
5252 

 CITY OF NORTH POLE 
Regular Meeting 

November 20, 2023 
City Hall Chambers 

125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska 
www.northpolealaska.com 

Monday, November 20, 2023 
Committee of the Whole: 6:30 PM 

Regular City Council Meeting: 7:00 PM 

MAYOR CITY CLERK 
Michael Welch Melissa Dionne & Emily Braniff 
907-488-8584  907-488-8583 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
Chandra Clack – Mayor Pro Tem 907-460-3767 
Anton Keller – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 907-987-2548 
Larry Terch – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 907-378-9233 
Jeffrey Jacobson    907-460-7733 
Benny Williams  907-388-5911 
David Skipps  907-750-5106 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Invocation

4. Approval of Agenda

5. Approval of the Minutes from 10/16/2023

6. Communications from the Mayor
a. Student of the Month – Levi Skipps
b. Recognition of Staff – Tricia Fogarty (20 years)
c. FNSB Planning Commission

7. Council Members Questions of the Mayor

8. Citizens Comments (Limited to five (5) minutes per Citizen)

9. Communications from Department Heads and Borough Representative

10. Ongoing Projects Report

11. Unfinished Business
a.

b. Ordinance 23-16, An Ordinance of The City of North Pole Amending the Pay Policy for
City of North Pole Employees.

(Pgs. 1-2)

(Pgs. 3-10)

Ordinance 23-15, An Ordinance of the North Pole City Council Establishing the 2024 
Operating and Capital Budget and Levying the Mill Rate (Pgs. 12-53)

(Pgs. 54-66)

d.   Postponement of December 4th Council Meeting

(Pg. 11)

1

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


c.

12. New Business
a. Memo – Response to Request for Proposal – Approval of Auditor
b. Memo – Request to Accept Grant Funds – Homeland Security

13. Council Comments

14. Adjournment

Ordinance 23-17, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, to Amend Title 10, Unsafe and 
Hazardous Vehicles and Title 1, Minor Offense Fee Schedule (Pgs. 67-84)

(Pg. 85)
(Pgs. 86-98)

2



Mr. Hu 
Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 

  Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, November 6th, 2023, in the North Pole City 
Hall Council Chambers. 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor Welch called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, October 16, 2023, to order at 
7:00 p.m. 

Present: 
Mayor Welch 
Chandra Clack – Mayor Pro Tem 
Anton Keller – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 
Larry Terch – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 

Benny Williams  

Absent: 
David Skipps 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 
Led by Emily Braniff 

INVOCATION  
Given by Mr. Jacobson 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
Mr. Keller moved to approve the agenda of November 6th, 2023 

Seconded by Mr. Terch 

Mr. Jacobson moved to amend the agenda of November 6th, 2023, to consent the following 

Unfinished Business 
a. Ordinance 23-14, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole Amending the 2023 Budget to Accept Grant

Funds  
New Business 

a. Ordinance 23-15, An Ordinance of the North Pole City Council Establishing the 2024 Operating and
Capital Budget and Levying the Mill Rate 

b. Ordinance 23-16, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole Amending the Pay Policy for City of North Pole
Employees 

c. Ordinance 23-17, An Ordinance of City of North Pole, to Amend Title 10, Unsafe and Hazardous Vehicles

Jeffrey Jacobson  

3



and Title 1, Minor Offense Fee Schedule 
d. Memo – Renewal to the Contract between Fairbanks Emergency Communications Center and the City of

North Pole to Provide Emergency Dispatching Services for Police and Fire 
e. Memo- Request to accept the 2023 Emergency Performance Grant, EMS-2023-EP-0001.
f. Memo - Utility Account Write-off Request

Seconded by Mr. Keller 

On the Agenda, as Amended 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – Clack, Terch Keller, Jacobson, Williams, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 

On the Agenda 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – Jacobson, Williams, Terch, Clack, Keller, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 – Skipps  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Mr. Keller moved to approve the minutes from the October 16th, 2023, meeting. 

Seconded by Mr. Keller 

On the Minutes 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – Terch, Keller, Jacobson, Clack, Williams, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
• The Council was reorganized, and positions were recognized immediately.
• Mayor Welch spoke to the 2023 Bed Tax Grant Applications and Committee meeting.
• Mayor Welch spoke to North Poles Legislative Priorities and what he plans to tell the Legislators at the

meeting the following day at the Fairbanks Legislatures Information Office.

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR 

4



 

CITIZENS COMMENTS – (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 
 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY 
CLERK 
 

Director of City Services, Danny Wallace  
• Budget Questions and City Services Tours 
•  Last week, there were a few questions on the budget to include wage information for City Services and a 

more nuanced look at sewer spending.  I sent responses to those to each of you and if you have additional 
questions, please let me know. On a related topic, we were able to provide tours of City Services 
operations to two Council Members last week – we’d be happy to do this for anyone on the 
Council.  Touring Utilities and Public Works operations and doing ride-alongs with our crews provides 
important insight into what it takes to provide services to the City.   

• Building Department  
• We had a meeting with our City Building Inspector, Charlie Jeannette, last week on Three Bears 

requirements and reviewed the plans for the interior of the buildings.  There were no issues and both that 
project and the Wescott Pool upgrades are moving as planned.  We also issued a building permit to Santa 
Claus house, as they constructed new pens for the reindeer using 8 ft fences.  Any installed fences over 6 
ft require review from the City. 

• Public Works Department and Code Compliance 
• Winter operations are well underway, and you’ll see gravel put on City intersections at least twice per 

week, to include on Fridays.  We do not generally put down gravel on straight roads (similar to DOT).  The 
City’s dump truck, which we use to sand roads, was outfitted with new rear rims and tires.  That vehicle 
remains a key part of our fleet and remains in good shape, despite being a 1991 International Harvester. 

• Our new snow removal contract is working well, and our first snowplow of the year occurred on Oct 24th 
at a cost of $10,000, which is a 26% decrease per plowing from last year. Hubbard Construction used two 
plows this year and was able to finish within 7 hours of beginning at 2am in the morning. 

• On a related note, beginning this summer, we’ve been working with three specific homeowners that had 
put fences or metal stakes up in the right of way along their roads.  All three had the potential to interfere 
with snow operations and we were able to convince two of these individuals to remove their fences. We 
have one citizen still not in compliance and we have sent four letters and had one face-to-face meeting 
with that homeowner with no luck.  We are working with the Mayor on compliance and potential citation 
options. 

• The installation of the 15 candy cane lights has been completed by Graham Construction.  During the 
reinstallation, they found that two of the bases had been hit (not by our plows or DOT’s plows) and the 
supporting bolts had been sheared off.  DOT offered both parts and advice on how to fix (they saved the 
project) and we greatly appreciate their help.  The rest of the Candy Cane lights (17 additional) along with 
the three lights around City Hall will be painted next summer (this is included in the budget). 

• Downtown City Core lights are all in place but awaiting parts to be turned on.  Right now, they are looking 
at mid-December to have those new lights turned on.  Supply chain issues are causing the delays. 

5



• We will participate in the Winter Maintenance Forum hosted by the Fairbanks Area Surface 
Transportation (FAST) group.  This is the second year in a row that we are participating in this event, 
which allows us to talk about our operations and answer questions about NP winter operations.  This 
event will also include participation from the City of Fairbanks’ Public Works Director, Fairbanks North 
Star Borough, DOT, and many other organizations.  This will be held at the Morris Thompson Cultural 
Center on Tuesday, Nov 14th from 5:30-7:30pm and will also be streamed live on the FAST Facebook 
Page. 

• Utility Department 
• Based on information from Mr. Jacobson, we’ve begun discussions on how to get our Utilities and 

Public Works crews their CDL licenses.  This provides important driver’s training for four of our crew 
members (2 from Utilities and 2 from PW).  The cost for those licenses is about $5,000 per person if 
we partner with DOT and potentially the City of Fairbanks.  This represents an extremely good deal, 
as private CDL licensing costs between $10-15k per person for basic commercial driver’s training 

• Otherwise, the Utility Department remains stable in efforts to provide both clean water and sewer 
services to the city. 
 

Finance, Tricia Fogarty 
• Ms. Fogarty stated the budget book has been finalized and then re-finalized and is now on the city website.   

 

Fire Department, Chief Heineken  
• The North Pole High School senior class held their 1st haunted asylum on October 27th and 28th. The 

event had a great turn out and was enjoyed by all that were involved. We look forward to working 
with them in the future and possibly making this an annual event each Halloween.  

• NPFD had multiple staff members participate in a Fire Officer 1 class over the last few weeks. AC 
Chambers along with other members of the IFCA training committee hosted, coordinated, and 
instructed this training that was open to all the area fire departments. NPFD had 3 staff members 
attend, Robert Dobson, Brayden Masneri and Parker Jarvis were enrolled in the course. At the end of 
the course all students were able to take the State of Alaska IFSAC certification test, all 3 of our staff 
passed the practical testing and are awaiting the results of the written tests. The Fire Officer 1 course 
is a critical component to the fire department’s continued education and allows the opportunity for 
staff to learn to be leaders and managers.  

• I again would like to thank the City Council for their time last week during the budget workshop, I 
really appreciate the open dialog and feedback received during our presentation. The fire 
department’s budget as proposed makes some significant changes within our department, if any 
member of the council or the public has questions, comments or would like clarifications please get 
ahold of me and I would be happy to schedule time to meet.   

Police Department, Chief Dutra 
• Chief Dutra thanked Ms. Clack, Mr. Terch and Mr. Williams for helping at the events at Costco over the 

6



weekend.  He thanked Mr. Skipps for the food donation, and he reported the totals that have been 
donated to the Food Bank to date.   

• Chief Dutra spoke of traffic stats and of the decline of serious traffic crimes.  
• Chief Dutra spoke to the hardship of not having their own firing range.  

Human Resources, Douglas Fisher  
• Mr. Fisher introduced himself and shared that he has a welcoming personality, and he is here to help 

people.  
City Clerk’s Office, Emily Braniff 

• Ms. Braniff reported she had passed all the background checks that come with the position and has 
completed the required training for the position.  Ms. Braniff reported that the Clerk’s Office has received 
8 Bed Tax Grant Applications and thanked the Council for their time during budget presentations.  
 

Borough Representative, Council Member Chandra Clack & Council Member Jacobson 
• Ms. Clack shared the information that was relayed at the past two Borough Assembly meetings, the first 

being the long meeting discussing changing the date of the Municipal Election.  Ms. Clack reported the 
ordinance was voted down at the reconvened meeting.    

• Mr. Jacobson stated there was a change in the Planning Commission requirements, which is now open to 
all North Pole area residents.  Mr. Jacobson spoke to a Planning & Zoning issue that happened between 
the City of Fairbanks and the Fairbanks North Star Borough in Slaterville in 2017 which took away the 
City’s ability to appeal to the Planning Commissions decisions.     

• Mr. Jacobson reported on the reconvened meeting which included first sitting through a long Finance 
Committee meeting, he shared playground improvements plans and other Borough proposed projects.  

• Mr. Jacobson provided an update on the Municipal Election Day change debate that occurred at the 
reconvened meeting, which he reported did not pass.   
 

ON GOING PROJECTS 
 

• Mayor Welch asked Mr. Wallace to speak to combined heat and power, Mayor Welch first explained the 
enormity of the project.  Mr. Wallace stated the city is not financially committed to the project because 
it is still in the brainstorming stage.  Mayor Welch shared that he has been studying about it with Bernie 
Karl for three years so he can look people in the eye and speak with knowledge of the project.       

 
 

NEW BUSINESS  
• Ordinance 2023-15, An Ordinance of the North Pole City Council Establishing the 2024 Operating and 

Capital Budget and Levying the Mill Rate.  
 
Mr. Keller moved to advance Ordinance 2023-15, as Amended.  
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack 
 

7



On the Ordinance, As Amended  
DISCUSSION  
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – Clack, Terch, Jacobson, Williams, Keller, Welch   
No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 
 

On the Amendment 
DISCUSSION 
PASSED 
Mr. Jacobson moved to amend Ordinance 2023-15 to move $242,570 to line item 9918-0 in the budget.  
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack  
 

Yes: 6 – Williams, Terch, Keller, Clack, Jacobson, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 
 

On the Amendment 
DISCUSSION 
PASSED 
Mr. Clack moved to amend Ordinance 2023-15 to increase the Clerk’s Office Election’s Budget by $4000  
 

Seconded by Mr. Williams 
 

Yes: Clack, Terch, Jacobson, Williams, Keller, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 – Skipps 
 

On the Amendment 
DISCUSSION 
PASSED 
Mr. Keller moved to amend Ordinance 2023-15 to increase Public Works Travel and Training Budget by $10,000  
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack  
 

Yes: Keller, Clack, Terch, Williams, Jacobson, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 – Skipps  
 

On the Amendment 
DISCUSSION 
PASSED 

8



Mr. Keller moved to amend Ordinance 2023-15 to increase Water & Sewer Travel and Training Budget by 
$7,000 
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack  
 

Yes: Clack, Terch, Keller, Williams, Jacobson, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 
 

• Ordinance 2023-16 An Ordinance of the City of North Pole Amending the Pay Policy for City of North Pole 
Employees.  

 

Mr. Terch moved to advance Ordinance 2023-16 
 

On the Ordinance  
DISCUSSION  
PASSED 
Yes: Clack, Terch, Keller, Williams, Jacobson, Welch 
No: 0 
Absent: Skipps 

 

• Ordinance 2023-17, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, to Amend Title 10, Unsafe and Hazardous 
Vehicles and Title 1, Minor Offense Fee Schedule.  

 

Mr. Jacobson moved to advance Ordinance 2023-17, as Amended.  
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack 
 

On the Ordinance, As Amended  
DISCUSSION  
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – Williams, Terch, Keller, Clack, Jacobson, Welch  
No: 0  
Absent: 1 - Skipps 
 

On the Amendment  
DISCUSSION 
PASSED 
Mr. Terch moved to amend Ordinance 2023-17 to strike line number 63 and to add “failure to contain, secure, or 
confine load” to line number 69. 
 

Seconded by Ms. Clack 
 

Yes: Clack, Terch, Jacobson, Keller, Williams, Welch 

9



No: 0 
Absent: 1 - Skipps 

On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 
APPROVED 
Memo – Renewal to the Contract between Fairbanks Emergency Communications Center and the City of North 
Pole to provide emergency dispatching services for Police and Fire. 

Mr. Keller moved to accept the Memo 

Seconded by Mr. Terch 

Yes: Clack, Terch, Keller, Williams, Jacobson, Welch 
No:  
Absent: 1 - Skipps 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Mr. Jacobson reported he brought packets to members regarding Man Cho Mine project, and they are being 
expedited at a rapid rate. Mr. Jacobson welcomed the new Mayor Pro Tem, Deputy Mayor Tem, and Alternate 
Deputy Mayor Pro Tem.  
Mayor Welch reminded everyone about the meeting at the Legislature the following day, he asked those who 
were attending to be there at 2:30 pm.  

Council member comments were kept short so Mr. Jacobson could make his flight.  

ADJOURNMENT 
Mr. Keller moved to adjourn. 

Seconded by Ms. Clack 

The regular meeting of Monday, November 6, 2023, adjourned at 10:05 p.m. 

These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council on Monday, 
November 6, 2023.  

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
Emily Braniff, CMC 
City Clerk 

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



PASSED/FAILED 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  

Sponsored by: Mayor Welch 1 
Introduced: November 6, 2023 2 

3 
4 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-16 5 
6 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE AMENDING THE PAY 7 

POLICY FOR CITY OF NORTH POLE EMPLOYEES 8 

9 
WHEREAS, changes to the North Pole Municipal Code are a continually changing requirement;10 
and11 

12 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole wishes to remain up to date with its compensation for its13 
employees; and14 

15 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of North Pole:16 

17 
Section 1. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and shall be codified.18 

19 
Section 2. Title 2 Chapter 36 section 470: Pay, is hereby amended in the North Pole Code of20 
Ordinances as follows: [new text in blue, deleted text in strikethrough]. See attached.21 

22 
Section 3. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective DECEMBER 31, 2023.23 

24 
ADOPTED THE ____ DAY OF OCTOBER 2023.25 

26 
27 

________________________________ 28 
Mayor Michael W Welch  29 

30 
ATTEST:31 

32 
_______________________________33 
Emily Braniff, CMC34 
City Clerk  35 

54



2.36.470 Pay. 

A.    All City employees in the City service excluding the Mayor, contractual employees, casual employees 

and temporary employees shall be paid the monthly/hourly wage in accordance with the position 

classification title and date of hire or range, except that employees being promoted to positions of higher 

pay shall receive a start date adjustment that places them at the increased salary closest to their 

subsequent pay scale salary. Such adjustment shall be recorded in the employee’s personnel file and shall 

be used throughout the employee’s tenure of that position. 

B.    Employees (excluding Fire Department personnel) working a regularly scheduled evening shift shall 

earn a pay differential hourly rate of $1 (one dollar) an hour for hours worked from 3:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. 

C.    Employees (excluding Fire Department personnel) working a regularly scheduled night shift shall 

earn a pay differential hourly rate of $2 (two dollars) an hour for hours worked from 10:00 p.m. to 8:00 

a.m. 

D.    The City Council shall every three years review the pay scale to recommend cost of living increase 

adjustments as warranted and shall communicate back to the employees the outcome of the review. 

Department Heads will report market surveys to the City Council, two months in advance of the annual 

budget meetings. annually in advance of the normal budget cycle. All market surveys will use the same 

data source. 

E.    Employees will advance to the next pay step on the first full pay period of each year, except for those 

new employees hired within the last quarter of the year. Employees hired within the last quarter of the 

year will not be eligible for their annual step salary increases until the first full pay period in January 

following their one-year anniversary. Employees over step 20 on the pay scale will receive a 1% increase 

on the first full pay period of each year. 

F.    Professional Development Step Salary Increases. Employees may earn horizontal step increases for 

professional development as follows: 

Criteria for professional development will be developed by department heads coordinated with the 

Mayor and approved by the City Council. Current employees who meet the professional development 

criteria for advancement at the time of adoption of Ordinance 04-05 will be grandfathered in for 

longevity requirements. Initial placement in professional development track will not be cumulative and 

will result in two step advancements only. Police Sergeants are eligible for professional development 

advancement. 

55



Accounts Receivable/Receptionist Clerk:   

Clerk I 2 Steps 

Clerk II 2 Steps 

Clerk III 2 Steps 

Clerk IV 2 Steps 

Accounts Specialist/Utility Accountant 
 

Certification I -Not For Profit Financial Concepts I or 

Equivalent 

2 Step 

Certification I -Not For Profit Financial Concepts II or 

Equivalent 

2 Step 

Bachelor’s degree in accounting  2 Step 

CPA 2 Step 

City Clerk:   

Clerk I 2 Steps 

Clerk II 2 Steps 

Clerk III 2 Steps 

Clerk IV  2 Steps 

Admin/Exec. Assistant/Evidence:   

Admin/Exec. Assistant/Evidence I 2 Steps 

Admin/Exec. Assistant/Evidence II 2 Steps 

Admin/Exec. Assistant/Evidence III 2 Steps 

Admin/Exec. Assistant/Evidence IV 2 Steps 

Human Resources Generalist/Deputy City Clerk:   

Human Resources Generalist/Deputy City Clerk I 2 Steps 

Human Resources Generalist/Deputy City Clerk II 2 Steps 

Human Resources Generalist/Deputy City Clerk III 2 Steps 

Human Resources Generalist/Deputy City Clerk IV 2 Steps 

56



Firefighter Personnel:   

Firefighter I 2 Steps 

Firefighter II 2 Steps 

Firefighter III 2 Steps 

Firefighter IV 2 Steps 

Police Officer:   

Police Officer I 2 Steps 

Police Officer II 2 Steps 

Police Officer III 2 Steps 

Police Officer IV 2 Steps 

Public Works Assistant:   

Public Works Assistant I 2 Steps 

Public Works Assistant II 2 Steps 

Public Works Assistant III 2 Steps 

Public Works Assistant IV 2 Steps 

Utility Assistant:   

Utility Assistant I 2 Steps 

Utility Operator I 2 Steps 

Utility Operator II 2 Steps 

Water Treatment Level II  1 Step 

G.    Newly hired employees shall be employed at the starting rate of the appropriate salary range. On 

approval of the Mayor, the department head may direct the starting salary above the minimum. 

H.    Promotions. An employee who has received a promotion shall move up the pay scale but may not 

exceed a $500 (five hundred dollars) a month increase. 

 

 

57



Police Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Step $1.00 $2.00 $3.00 $4.00 $5.00 $6.00 $7.00 $8.00 $9.00 $10.00 $11.00 $12.00 $13.00 $14.00 $15.00 $16.00 $17.00 $18.00 $19.00 $20.00
Year/Step

Chief $43.53 $43.53 $44.84 $46.18 $47.57 $48.99 $50.46 $51.98 $53.54 $55.14 $56.80 $57.65 $58.51 $59.39 $60.28 $61.19 $62.10 $63.04 $63.98 $64.94 $65.91
$7,545.20 $7,771.56 $8,004.70 $8,244.84 $8,492.19 $8,746.95 $9,009.36 $9,279.64 $9,558.03 $9,844.77 $9,992.45 $10,142.33 $10,294.47 $10,448.88 $10,605.62 $10,764.70 $10,926.17 $11,090.07 $11,256.42 $11,425.26

$90,542.40 $93,258.67 $96,056.43 $98,938.13 $101,906.27 $104,963.46 $108,112.36 $111,355.73 $114,696.40 $118,137.30 $119,909.35 $121,708.00 $123,533.62 $125,386.62 $127,267.42 $129,176.43 $131,114.08 $133,080.79 $135,077.00 $137,103.15

Lieutenant $40.01 $40.01 $41.21 $42.45 $43.72 $45.03 $46.38 $47.77 $49.21 $50.68 $52.20 $52.99 $53.78 $54.59 $55.41 $56.24 $57.08 $57.94 $58.81 $59.69 $60.58
$6,935.07 $7,143.12 $7,357.41 $7,578.13 $7,805.48 $8,039.64 $8,280.83 $8,529.26 $8,785.13 $9,048.69 $9,184.42 $9,322.19 $9,462.02 $9,603.95 $9,748.01 $9,894.23 $10,042.64 $10,193.28 $10,346.18 $10,501.37

$83,220.80 $85,717.42 $88,288.95 $90,937.62 $93,665.74 $96,475.72 $99,369.99 $102,351.09 $105,421.62 $108,584.27 $110,213.03 $111,866.23 $113,544.22 $115,247.38 $116,976.10 $118,730.74 $120,511.70 $122,319.37 $124,154.16 $126,016.48

Sergeant $37.00 $37.00 $38.11 $39.25 $40.43 $41.64 $42.89 $44.18 $45.51 $46.87 $48.28 $49.00 $49.74 $50.48 $51.24 $52.01 $52.79 $53.58 $54.38 $55.20 $56.03
$6,413.33 $6,605.73 $6,803.91 $7,008.02 $7,218.26 $7,434.81 $7,657.86 $7,887.59 $8,124.22 $8,367.95 $8,493.46 $8,620.87 $8,750.18 $8,881.43 $9,014.65 $9,149.87 $9,287.12 $9,426.43 $9,567.82 $9,711.34

$76,960.00 $79,268.80 $81,646.86 $84,096.27 $86,619.16 $89,217.73 $91,894.26 $94,651.09 $97,490.63 $100,415.34 $101,921.57 $103,450.40 $105,002.15 $106,577.19 $108,175.84 $109,798.48 $111,445.46 $113,117.14 $114,813.90 $116,536.11

Detective/Corporal $35.00 $35.00 $36.05 $37.13 $38.25 $39.39 $40.57 $41.79 $43.05 $44.34 $45.67 $46.35 $47.05 $47.75 $48.47 $49.20 $49.93 $50.68 $51.44 $52.22 $53.00
$6,066.67 $6,248.67 $6,436.13 $6,629.21 $6,828.09 $7,032.93 $7,243.92 $7,461.23 $7,685.07 $7,915.62 $8,034.36 $8,154.87 $8,277.20 $8,401.35 $8,527.38 $8,655.29 $8,785.12 $8,916.89 $9,050.65 $9,186.40

$72,800.00 $74,984.00 $77,233.52 $79,550.53 $81,937.04 $84,395.15 $86,927.01 $89,534.82 $92,220.86 $94,987.49 $96,412.30 $97,858.48 $99,326.36 $100,816.26 $102,328.50 $103,863.43 $105,421.38 $107,002.70 $108,607.74 $110,236.86

Officer $32.00 $32.00 $32.96 $33.95 $34.97 $36.02 $37.10 $38.21 $39.36 $40.54 $41.75 $42.38 $43.01 $43.66 $44.31 $44.98 $45.65 $46.34 $47.03 $47.74 $48.46
$5,546.67 $5,713.07 $5,884.46 $6,060.99 $6,242.82 $6,430.11 $6,623.01 $6,821.70 $7,026.35 $7,237.14 $7,345.70 $7,455.88 $7,567.72 $7,681.24 $7,796.46 $7,913.40 $8,032.11 $8,152.59 $8,274.88 $8,399.00

$66,560.00 $68,556.80 $70,613.50 $72,731.91 $74,913.87 $77,161.28 $79,476.12 $81,860.40 $84,316.22 $86,845.70 $88,148.39 $89,470.61 $90,812.67 $92,174.86 $93,557.49 $94,960.85 $96,385.26 $97,831.04 $99,298.51 $100,787.98

Recruit $30.00 $30.00 $30.90
$4,507.00 $4,642.21

Evidence Custodian $24.00 $24.00 $24.72 $25.46 $26.23 $27.01 $27.82 $28.66 $29.52 $30.40 $31.31 $31.78 $32.26 $32.74 $33.24 $33.73 $34.24 $34.75 $35.28 $35.80 $36.34
$4,160.00 $4,284.80 $4,413.34 $4,545.74 $4,682.12 $4,822.58 $4,967.26 $5,116.28 $5,269.76 $5,427.86 $5,509.27 $5,591.91 $5,675.79 $5,760.93 $5,847.34 $5,935.05 $6,024.08 $6,114.44 $6,206.16 $6,299.25

$49,920.00 $51,417.60 $52,960.13 $54,548.93 $56,185.40 $57,870.96 $59,607.09 $61,395.30 $63,237.16 $65,134.28 $66,111.29 $67,102.96 $68,109.51 $69,131.15 $70,168.12 $71,220.64 $72,288.95 $73,373.28 $74,473.88 $75,590.99

Executive Assistant $22.60 $22.60 $23.28 $23.98 $24.70 $25.44 $26.20 $26.99 $27.80 $28.63 $29.49 $29.93 $30.38 $30.83 $31.30 $31.77 $32.24 $32.73 $33.22 $33.72 $34.22
$3,917.33 $4,034.85 $4,155.90 $4,280.58 $4,408.99 $4,541.26 $4,677.50 $4,817.83 $4,962.36 $5,111.23 $5,187.90 $5,265.72 $5,344.70 $5,424.87 $5,506.25 $5,588.84 $5,672.67 $5,757.76 $5,844.13 $5,931.79

$47,008.00 $48,418.24 $49,870.79 $51,366.91 $52,907.92 $54,495.16 $56,130.01 $57,813.91 $59,548.33 $61,334.78 $62,254.80 $63,188.62 $64,136.45 $65,098.50 $66,074.98 $67,066.10 $68,072.09 $69,093.17 $70,129.57 $71,181.51
$10.00

Administrative Assistant $19.00 $19.00 $19.57 $20.16 $20.76 $21.38 $22.02 $22.68 $23.37 $24.07 $24.79 $25.16 $25.54 $25.92 $26.31 $26.70 $27.10 $27.51 $27.92 $28.34 $28.77
$3,293.00 $3,391.79 $3,493.54 $3,598.35 $3,706.30 $3,817.49 $3,932.01 $4,049.97 $4,171.47 $4,296.62 $4,361.07 $4,426.48 $4,492.88 $4,560.27 $4,628.68 $4,698.11 $4,768.58 $4,840.11 $4,912.71 $4,986.40

$39,516.00 $40,701.48 $41,922.52 $43,180.20 $44,475.61 $45,809.87 $47,184.17 $48,599.70 $50,057.69 $51,559.42 $52,332.81 $53,117.80 $53,914.57 $54,723.29 $55,544.14 $56,377.30 $57,222.96 $58,081.30 $58,952.52 $59,836.81

58



59



Fire Department 

 

 

 

 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Maximum

Fire Chief 82,223$   84,690$  87,230$    89,847$   92,543$    95,319$   98,179$  101,124$   102,641$    104,180$   105,743$   107,329$    108,939$   110,573$    112,232$    113,915$   115,624$    117,358$   119,119$   120,906$   
6,852$      7,057$     7,269$      7,487$     7,712$      7,943$     8,182$     8,427$        8,553$        8,682$        8,812$        8,944$        9,078$        9,214$        9,353$        9,493$        9,635$        9,780$        9,927$        10,075$     
39.53$      40.72$     41.94$      43.20$     44.49$      45.83$     47.20$     48.62$        49.35$        50.09$        50.84$        51.60$        52.37$        53.16$        53.96$        54.77$        55.59$        56.42$        57.27$        58.13$        

Deputy Chief 74,906$   77,153$  79,468$    81,852$   84,307$    86,837$   89,442$  92,125$     93,507$      94,909$      96,333$     97,778$      99,245$     100,733$    102,244$    103,778$   105,335$    106,915$   108,518$   110,146$   
Assistant Chief 6,242$      6,429$     6,622$      6,821$     7,026$      7,236$     7,453$     7,677$        7,792$        7,909$        8,028$        8,148$        8,270$        8,394$        8,520$        8,648$        8,778$        8,910$        9,043$        9,179$        

36.01$      37.09$     38.21$      39.35$     40.53$      41.75$     43.00$     44.29$        44.96$        45.63$        46.31$        47.01$        47.71$        48.43$        49.16$        49.89$        50.64$        51.40$        52.17$        52.95$        

Admin Asst. 38,713$   39,874$  41,071$    42,303$   43,572$    44,879$   46,225$  47,612$     48,326$      49,051$      49,787$     50,534$      51,292$     52,061$      52,842$      53,635$      54,439$      55,256$     56,085$      56,926$     
3,226$      3,323$     3,423$      3,525$     3,631$      3,740$     3,852$     3,968$        4,027$        4,088$        4,149$        4,211$        4,274$        4,338$        4,404$        4,470$        4,537$        4,605$        4,674$        4,744$        
18.61$      19.17$     19.75$      20.34$     20.95$      21.58$     22.22$     22.89$        23.23$        23.58$        23.94$        24.30$        24.66$        25.03$        25.40$        25.79$        26.17$        26.57$        26.96$        27.37$        

Recept admin 35,427$   36,490$  37,585$    38,712$   39,873$    41,070$   42,302$  43,571$     44,224$      44,888$      45,561$     46,244$      46,938$     47,642$      48,357$      49,082$      49,818$      50,566$     51,324$      52,094$     
2,952$      3,041$     3,132$      3,226$     3,323$      3,422$     3,525$     3,631$        3,685$        3,741$        3,797$        3,854$        3,912$        3,970$        4,030$        4,090$        4,152$        4,214$        4,277$        4,341$        
17.03$      17.54$     18.07$      18.61$     19.17$      19.75$     20.34$     20.95$        21.26$        21.58$        21.90$        22.23$        22.57$        22.90$        23.25$        23.60$        23.95$        24.31$        24.68$        25.05$        

Captain-BC 70,556$   72,673$  74,853$    77,098$   79,411$    81,794$   84,248$  86,775$     88,077$      89,398$      90,739$     92,100$      93,481$     94,884$      96,307$      97,751$      99,218$      100,706$   102,216$   103,750$   
5,880$      6,056$     6,238$      6,425$     6,618$      6,816$     7,021$     7,231$        7,340$        7,450$        7,562$        7,675$        7,790$        7,907$        8,026$        8,146$        8,268$        8,392$        8,518$        8,646$        
25.52$      26.29$     27.07$      27.89$     28.72$      29.58$     30.47$     31.39$        31.86$        32.33$        32.82$        33.31$        33.81$        34.32$        34.83$        35.36$        35.89$        36.42$        36.97$        37.53$        

Lieutenant 63,510$   65,415$  67,378$    69,399$   71,481$    73,625$   75,834$  78,109$     79,281$      80,470$      81,677$     82,902$      84,146$     85,408$      86,689$      87,990$      89,309$      90,649$     92,009$      93,389$     
5,293$      5,451$     5,615$      5,783$     5,957$      6,135$     6,320$     6,509$        6,607$        6,706$        6,806$        6,909$        7,012$        7,117$        7,224$        7,332$        7,442$        7,554$        7,667$        7,782$        
22.97$      23.66$     24.37$      25.10$     25.85$      26.63$     27.43$     28.25$        28.68$        29.11$        29.54$        29.99$        30.44$        30.89$        31.36$        31.83$        32.30$        32.79$        33.28$        33.78$        

Engineer 58,611$   60,369$  62,180$    64,046$   65,967$    67,946$   69,985$  72,084$     73,165$      74,263$      75,377$     76,507$      77,655$     78,820$      80,002$      81,202$      82,420$      83,657$     84,911$      86,185$     
4,884$      5,031$     5,182$      5,337$     5,497$      5,662$     5,832$     6,007$        6,097$        6,189$        6,281$        6,376$        6,471$        6,568$        6,667$        6,767$        6,868$        6,971$        7,076$        7,182$        
21.20$      21.84$     22.49$      23.17$     23.86$      24.58$     25.31$     26.07$        26.46$        26.86$        27.26$        27.67$        28.09$        28.51$        28.94$        29.37$        29.81$        30.26$        30.71$        31.17$        

Firefighter 55,599$   57,267$  58,985$    60,755$   62,577$    64,455$   66,388$  68,380$     69,406$      70,447$      71,503$     72,576$      73,665$     74,770$      75,891$      77,029$      78,185$      79,358$     80,548$      81,756$     
4,633$      4,772$     4,915$      5,063$     5,215$      5,371$     5,532$     5,698$        5,784$        5,871$        5,959$        6,048$        6,139$        6,231$        6,324$        6,419$        6,515$        6,613$        6,712$        6,813$        
20.11$      20.71$     21.33$      21.97$     22.63$      23.31$     24.01$     24.73$        25.10$        25.48$        25.86$        26.25$        26.64$        27.04$        27.45$        27.86$        28.28$        28.70$        29.13$        29.57$        

Recruit FF 41,070$   42,302$  
3,423$      3,525$     
14.85$      15.30$     

Overhire 17.52$      

60



61



Administration 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Position 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Year/Step

Mayor Hourly 33.17 33.83 34.51 35.20 36.90 36.62 37.35 38.10 38.86 39.64 40.43 41.24 42.07 42.91 43.77 44.34 45.54 46.45 47.37 48.32
Monthly 5,750.00 5,865.00 5,982.30 6,101.95 6,223.98 6,348.46 6,475.43 6,604.94 6,737.04 6,871.78 6,974.86 7,079.48 7,185.67 7,293.46 7,402.86 7,513.90 7,626.61 7,741.01 7,857.13 7,974.98
Annual 69,000.00 70,380.00 71,787.60 73,223.35 74,687.82 76,181.58 77,705.21 79,259.31 80,844.50 82,461.39 83,698.31 84,953.78 86,228.09 87,521.51 88,834.33 90,166.85 91,519.35 92,892.14 94,285.52 95,699.81

City Clerk 32.48 32.48 33.45 34.46 35.49 36.56 37.65 38.78 39.95 41.14 42.38 42.39 43.02 43.67 44.32 44.99 45.66 46.35 47.04 47.75 48.47
5630 5,799 5,973 6,152 6,336 6,527 6,722 6,924 7,132 7,239 7,347 7,458 7,569 7,683 7,798 7,915 8,034 8,154 8,277 8,401

67,558 69,585 71,673 73,823 76,038 78,319 80,668 83,088 85,581 86,865 88,168 89,490 90,833 92,195 93,578 94,982 96,406 97,852 99,320 100,810

City Manager 42.96 42.96 44.25 45.58 46.94 48.35 49.80 51.30 52.84 54.42 56.05 56.89 57.75 58.61 59.49 60.39 61.29 62.21 63.14 64.09 65.05
7446 7,670 7,900 8,137 8,381 8,632 8,891 9,158 9,433 9,716 9,862 10,010 10,160 10,312 10,467 10,624 10,783 10,945 11,109 11,276

89,357 92,038 94,799 97,643 100,572 103,589 106,697 109,898 113,195 116,590 118,339 120,114 121,916 123,745 125,601 127,485 129,397 131,338 133,308 135,308

Chief Financial Officer 36.64 36.64 37.74 38.87 40.04 41.24 42.48 43.75 45.06 46.41 47.81 48.53 49.26 50.00 50.75 51.51 52.28 53.07 53.86 54.67 55.49
6352 6,543 6,739 6,941 7,149 7,364 7,585 7,812 8,047 8,288 8,412 8,538 8,666 8,796 8,928 9,062 9,198 9,336 9,476 9,618

76,224 78,511 80,866 83,292 85,791 88,365 91,015 93,746 96,558 99,455 100,947 102,461 103,998 105,558 107,141 108,748 110,380 112,035 113,716 115,422

HR Generalist/Specialist 25.44 25.44 26.20 26.99 27.80 28.63 29.49 30.37 31.28 32.22 33.19 33.69 34.70 35.74 36.81 37.91 39.05 40.22 41.43 42.67 43.95
4,409 4,541 4,678 4,818 4,962 5,111 5,265 5,423 5,585 5,753 5,839 6,014 6,195 6,380 6,572 6,769 6,972 7,181 7,397 7,619

52,908 54,495 56,130 57,814 59,548 61,335 63,175 65,070 67,022 69,033 70,068 72,170 74,336 76,566 78,863 81,229 83,665 86,175 88,761 91,423

HR Manager 32.06 32.06 33.02 34.01 35.03 36.08 37.17 38.28 39.43 40.61 41.83 42.46 43.10 43.74 44.40 45.06 45.74 46.43 47.12 47.83 48.55
5557 5,724 5,895 6,072 6,255 6,442 6,635 6,834 7,040 7,251 7,359 7,470 7,582 7,696 7,811 7,928 8,047 8,168 8,290 8,415

66,685 68,685 70,746 72,868 75,054 77,306 79,625 82,014 84,474 87,009 88,314 89,638 90,983 92,348 93,733 95,139 96,566 98,014 99,485 100,977

Deputy Accountant 29.97 29.97 30.87 31.80 32.75 33.73 34.74 35.79 36.86 37.97 39.10 39.69 40.29 40.89 41.50 42.13 42.76 43.40 44.05 44.71 45.38
5,195 5,351 5,511 5,676 5,847 6,022 6,203 6,389 6,581 6,778 6,880 6,983 7,088 7,194 7,302 7,411 7,523 7,635 7,750 7,866

62,338 64,208 66,134 68,118 70,162 72,266 74,434 76,667 78,967 81,336 82,556 83,795 85,052 86,328 87,622 88,937 90,271 91,625 92,999 94,394

AP/Sales Tax Clerk 22.60 22.60 23.28 23.98 24.70 25.44 26.20 26.99 27.80 28.63 29.49 29.93 30.38 30.83 31.30 31.77 32.24 32.73 33.22 33.72 34.22
3,917 4,035 4,156 4,281 4,409 4,541 4,678 4,818 4,962 5,111 5,188 5,266 5,345 5,425 5,506 5,589 5,673 5,758 5,844 5,932

47,008 48,418 49,871 51,367 52,908 54,495 56,130 57,814 59,548 61,335 62,255 63,189 64,136 65,098 66,075 67,066 68,072 69,093 70,130 71,182

62



63



Public Works/U�li�es 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

Director of City Services Hourly 39.53 40.72 41.94 43.20 44.49 45.83 47.20 48.62 50.08 51.58 52.35 53.14 53.93 54.74 55.56 56.40 57.24 58.10 58.97 59.86
Monthly 6,851.87 7,057.42 7,269.15 7,487.22 7,711.84 7,943.19 8,181.49 8,426.93 8,679.74 8,940.13 9,074.23 9,210.35 9,348.50 9,488.73 9,631.06 9,775.53 9,922.16 10,070.99 10,222.06 10,375.39
Annual 82,222.40 84,689.07 87,229.74 89,846.64 92,542.04 95,318.30 98,177.85 101,123.18 104,156.88 107,281.58 108,890.81 110,524.17 112,182.03 113,864.76 115,572.73 117,306.32 119,065.92 120,851.91 122,664.69 124,504.66

Public Works Supervisor 36.01 37.09 38.20 39.35 40.53 41.75 43.00 44.29 45.62 46.98 47.69 48.41 49.13 49.87 50.62 51.38 52.15 52.93 53.72 54.53
6,241.73 6,428.99 6,621.85 6,820.51 7,025.13 7,235.88 7,452.96 7,676.54 7,906.84 8,144.05 8,266.21 8,390.20 8,516.05 8,643.79 8,773.45 8,905.05 9,038.63 9,174.21 9,311.82 9,451.50

74,900.80 77,147.82 79,462.26 81,846.13 84,301.51 86,830.56 89,435.47 92,118.54 94,882.09 97,728.56 99,194.48 100,682.40 102,192.64 103,725.53 105,281.41 106,860.63 108,463.54 110,090.49 111,741.85 113,417.98

Public Works Assistant 26.00 26.78 27.58 28.41 29.26 30.14 31.05 31.98 32.94 33.92 34.43 34.95 35.47 36.01 36.55 37.09 37.65 38.22 38.79 39.37
4,506.67 4,641.87 4,781.12 4,924.56 5,072.29 5,224.46 5,381.20 5,542.63 5,708.91 5,880.18 5,968.38 6,057.91 6,148.77 6,241.01 6,334.62 6,429.64 6,526.09 6,623.98 6,723.34 6,824.19

54,080.00 55,702.40 57,373.47 59,094.68 60,867.52 62,693.54 64,574.35 66,511.58 68,506.93 70,562.13 71,620.57 72,694.87 73,785.30 74,892.08 76,015.46 77,155.69 78,313.03 79,487.72 80,680.04 81,890.24

Utility Supervisor 36.01 37.09 38.20 39.35 40.53 41.75 43.00 44.29 45.62 46.98 47.69 48.41 49.13 49.87 50.62 51.38 52.15 52.93 53.72 54.53
6,241.73 6,428.99 6,621.85 6,820.51 7,025.13 7,235.88 7,452.96 7,676.54 7,906.84 8,144.05 8,266.21 8,390.20 8,516.05 8,643.79 8,773.45 8,905.05 9,038.63 9,174.21 9,311.82 9,451.50

74,900.80 77,147.82 79,462.26 81,846.13 84,301.51 86,830.56 89,435.47 92,118.54 94,882.09 97,728.56 99,194.48 100,682.40 102,192.64 103,725.53 105,281.41 106,860.63 108,463.54 110,090.49 111,741.85 113,417.98

Utility Operator 31.00 31.93 32.89 33.87 34.89 35.94 37.02 38.13 39.27 40.45 41.05 41.67 42.30 42.93 43.57 44.23 44.89 45.56 46.25 46.94
5,373.33 5,534.53 5,700.57 5,871.59 6,047.73 6,229.17 6,416.04 6,608.52 6,806.78 7,010.98 7,116.15 7,222.89 7,331.23 7,441.20 7,552.82 7,666.11 7,781.10 7,897.82 8,016.29 8,136.53

64,480.00 66,414.40 68,406.83 70,459.04 72,572.81 74,749.99 76,992.49 79,302.27 81,681.33 84,131.77 85,393.75 86,674.66 87,974.78 89,294.40 90,633.82 91,993.32 93,373.22 94,773.82 96,195.43 97,638.36

Utility Assistant 26.00 26.78 27.58 28.41 29.26 30.14 31.05 31.98 32.94 33.92 34.43 34.95 35.47 36.01 36.55 37.09 37.65 38.22 38.79 39.37
4,506.67 4,641.87 4,781.12 4,924.56 5,072.29 5,224.46 5,381.20 5,542.63 5,708.91 5,880.18 5,968.38 6,057.91 6,148.77 6,241.01 6,334.62 6,429.64 6,526.09 6,623.98 6,723.34 6,824.19

54,080.00 55,702.40 57,373.47 59,094.68 60,867.52 62,693.54 64,574.35 66,511.58 68,506.93 70,562.13 71,620.57 72,694.87 73,785.30 74,892.08 76,015.46 77,155.69 78,313.03 79,487.72 80,680.04 81,890.24

Utility & Building Clerk 22.00 22.66 23.34 24.04 24.76 25.50 26.27 27.06 27.87 28.71 29.14 29.57 30.02 30.47 30.92 31.39 31.86 32.34 32.82 33.31
3,813.33 3,927.73 4,045.57 4,166.93 4,291.94 4,420.70 4,553.32 4,689.92 4,830.62 4,975.54 5,050.17 5,125.92 5,202.81 5,280.85 5,360.06 5,440.47 5,522.07 5,604.90 5,688.98 5,774.31

45,760.00 47,132.80 48,546.78 50,003.19 51,503.28 53,048.38 54,639.83 56,279.03 57,967.40 59,706.42 60,602.02 61,511.05 62,433.71 63,370.22 64,320.77 65,285.58 66,264.87 67,258.84 68,267.72 69,291.74

Utility Accountant/Accounts 
Specialist 29.97 30.87 31.80 32.75 33.73 34.74 35.79 36.86 37.97 39.10 39.69 40.29 40.89 41.50 42.13 42.76 43.40 44.05 44.71 45.38

2397.60 2469.53 2543.61 2619.92 2698.52 2779.48 2862.86 2948.75 3037.21 3128.32 3175.25 3222.88 3271.22 3320.29 3370.09 3420.65 3471.95 3524.03 3576.89 3630.55
62337.60 64207.73 66133.96 68117.98 70161.52 72266.36 74434.35 76667.39 78967.41 81336.43 82556.48 83794.82 85051.74 86327.52 87622.43 88936.77 90270.82 91624.88 92999.26 94394.25

64



65



I.    Merit Increases. Merit increase may be granted, by Mayor and department head, or just Mayor if it is 

a department head, when an employee performs above and beyond their job description. Merit increases 

may be given for exceptional performance, saving the City money, acts of exemplary service, special 

achievement award, and/or similar action deemed worthy by the department head and the Mayor. These 

merit increase can be permanent or for a set period of time as determined by the Mayor and the 

department head. 

J.    Acting Pay. Acting pay will be granted to any employee who covers the essential job duties of a 

vacated position for more than thirty days or other special circumstances as determined by the Mayor 

and department head. Acting pay will be set at a two-step increase. 

K.    FTO Pay. Sworn Police Department employees who are actively training a sworn recruit Police 

Department employee shall earn a pay differential of $2 (two dollars) an hour for every hour they are 

actively working as a Field Training Officer. 

L.    Check Off Pay. Officers of the Fire Department who are actively training a recruit Fire Department 

employee shall earn a pay differential of $2 (two dollars) an hour for every hour they are actively training 

recruit Fire Department employees. (Ord. 23-05 § 2, 2023; Ord. 23-02 § 2, 2023; Ord. 22-27 § 2, 2022; Ord. 

22-17 § 2, 2022; Ord. 22-10 § 2, 2022; Ord. 21-23 § 2, 2022; Ord. 21-12 § 2, 2021; Ord. 19-07 § 2, 2019; Ord. 

17-17 § 2, 2017; Ord. 17-09 § 2, 2017; Ord. 16-18 § 2, 2016; Ord. 16-17 § 2, 2016; Ord. 15-18 § 2, 2015; Ord. 15-17 

§ 2, 2015; Ord. 15-03 § 2, 2015; Ord. 14-23 § 2, 2014; Ord. 14-22 § 2, 2014; Ord. 10-09 § 2, 2010; Ord. 10-02

§ 2, 2010; Ord. 08-13 § 2, 2008; Ord. 04-05 § 2, 2004; Ord. 01-12 § 2, 2001; Ord. 01-09 § 2, 2001; Ord. 00-03

§ 2, 2000; Ord. 99-1 § 2, 1999; Ord. 98-12 § 2, 1998)

66



1 
CITY OF NORTH POLE 2 
ORDIANANCE 2023-17 3 

4 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, TO AMEND TITLE 10, UNSAFE 5 
AND HAZARDOUS VEHICLES AND TITLE 1, MINOR OFFENSE FINE SCHEDULE 6

7
WHEREAS, changes to the North Pole Municipal Code is a continually changing requirement; 8 
and 9 
 10 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole Municipal Code should be amended to conform to the 11 
requirements of the City. 12 
 13 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of North Pole: 14 
 15 
Section 1. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and shall be codified. 16 
 17 
Section 2. Amend Title 10, Chapter 3, Section 100 Unsafe and Hazardous Vehicles and Title 1, 18 
Chapter 20, Section 030 Minor Offense Fine Schedule, are hereby amended in the North Pole 19 
Code of Ordinances, ask follows: [new text in blue, deleted text in blue strikethrough] 20 
 21 
10.03.100 Unsafe and Hazardous Vehicles 22 

A.    Any person who violates the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a minor offense, 23 
punishable by the fine schedule listed in NPMC 1.20.030. A second or subsequence offense 24 
committed after a period of 7 days shall result in an impound of the subject vehicle. In case of 25 
impound, the owner of the vehicle shall pay all costs of the impound, including towing and 26 
storage fees, in accordance with the fee schedule on file in the City Clerk’s office.   27 

B.    Each violation constitutes a new minor offense. The first violation shall result in a 28 
correctable citation. The period for correction is 7 days from the date of citation. 29 

C.    Fines or violations are separate from and in addition to all other remedies authorized by law 30 
or equity. (Ord. 19-03 § 2, 2019) 31 

D.  The following Alaska State Statutes are hereby adopted by this ordinance and will be subject 32 
to citation under this chapter. 33 

(1) 13AAC 04.272 Bumpers required. 34 

(2) 13AAC 02.517(G) Blue light Emergency vehicle 35 

67

https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole01/NorthPole0120.html#1.20.030


36 
(3) 13AAC 04.100(H) Unauthorized use of blue lights37 
 38 
(4) 13 AAC 04.100(A) Improper use of blue light 39 
 40 
(5) 13AAC 04.015(D) Lights in good working order 41 
 42 
(6) 13AAC04.020(A) Motor Vehicle must have two headlights between 24-54 inches 43 
 44 
(7) 13AAC 04.020(G) Two taillights 45 
 46 
(8) 13AAC 04.035(A) Two stop lights required 300 feet illumination.  47 
 48 
(9) 13AAC 04.037(a) and 13AAC 04.037 (B) Turn signals required/ Truck and Trailor for (b) 49 
 50 
(10) 13AAC 04.145(F) Use of lights in color not authorized. 51 
 52 
(11) 13AAC 04.205(A) Brakes must work. 53 
 54 
(12) 13AAC 04.205(B) Must have operable parking brake. 55 
 56 
(13) 13AAC 04.210(A) Must not be equipped with siren whistle bell. 57 
 58 
(14) 13AAC 04.220(C) Mirrors must be in good condition and reflect rear view to driver. 59 
 60 
(15) 13AAC 04.223 Tinted windows 61 
 62 
(16) 13AAC 04.230(D) Solid rubber tires one inch thick 63 
 64 
(17) 13AAC 04.230(E) Tires in unsafe conditions/ inadequate tread. 65 
 66 
(18) 13AAC 04.270(C) Safety belts must be in good working order. 67 
 68 
(19) AS 28.35.251 Failure to contain or contain, secure or confine a load.  69 
 70 
1.20.030 Minor offense fine schedule. 71 
In accordance with AS 29.25.070(a), citations for the following offenses may be disposed of as 72 
provided in AS 12.25.195 through 12.25.230, without a court appearance, upon payment of the 73 
fine amounts listed below plus the State surcharge required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074. 74 
Fines must be paid to the court. The Rules of Minor Offense Procedure in the Alaska Rules of 75 
Court apply to all offenses listed below. Citations charging these offenses must meet the 76 
requirements of Minor Offense Rule 3. If a person charged with one of these offenses appears in 77 
court and is found guilty, the penalty imposed for the offense may not exceed the fine amount for 78 
that offense listed below. If an offense is not listed on 79 

68

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/as.pl?cite=29.25.070
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/as.pl?cite=12.25.195
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/as.pl?cite=12.25.230
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/as.pl?cite=12.55.039
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/as.pl?cite=29.25.074


this fine schedule or another fine schedule, the defendant must appear in court to answer to the 80 
charges. 81 

Section Offense Description Fine Amount 

8.01.020 

Garbage and refuse containers required $50 1st offense 

$100 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.01.030 

Failure to deposit garbage in designated place $50 1st offense 

$100 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.01.040 

Failure to cover garbage and refuse when transported $50 1st offense 

$100 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.01.050 

Burning garbage or refuse without a permit $50 1st offense 

$100 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.02.020 

Cause/maintain/continue unwholesome well or 
groundwater 

$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.030 

Groundwater and soil contamination from garbage 
prohibited 

$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.040(B) 

Open pits and unfilled excavations prohibited $300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.040(C) Failure to secure unoccupied/abandoned buildings 

$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.040(D) Attractive hazards dangerous to children 

$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

 

8.02.050 

 

Outhouses prohibited 

 

$300 1st offense 

69

https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0801.html#8.01.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0801.html#8.01.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0801.html#8.01.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0801.html#8.01.050
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.050


Section Offense Description Fine Amount 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.060(A) > 4 junk vehicles on public property
$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.02.060(B) > 4 junk vehicles on owner/tenant/occupant property
$300 1st offense 

$500 2nd offense 

$1,000 3rd offense 

8.03.020 
Animal bite

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.03.030 
Failure to restrain animal

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.03.040 
Failure to remove dog/cat waste

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.04.030 

Flammable marijuana oil extraction methods 
prohibited 

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.04.040 

Permit/cause soot, cinders, fumes, gases, to endanger 
person or public

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

8.04.050(A) Disturbing the peace
$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

Chapter 10.03 Restrictions on certain vehicles
$150 1st offense 

$300 2nd offense 

$500 3rd offense 

12.03.010(A) Consuming marijuana in a public place $50 1st offense 

70

https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.060
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0802.html#8.02.060
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0803.html#8.03.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0803.html#8.03.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0803.html#8.03.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0804.html#8.04.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0804.html#8.04.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole08/NorthPole0804.html#8.04.050
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole10/NorthPole1003.html#10.03
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1203.html#12.03.010


Section Offense Description Fine Amount 

$100 2nd offense 

12.04.020 
Unlawful to obstruct 

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

12.04.030 
Wire and banners over streets – approval required 

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

12.04.040 
Deposit of snow or ice prohibited 

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

12.04.050 
Obstruction of drainage systems prohibited 

$50 1st offense 

$150 2nd offense 

$300 3rd offense 

12.08.010 
Permit required 

$150 1st offense 

$300 2nd offense 

$500 3rd offense 

12.12.020 
Parking during street cleaning and snow removal 

$150 1st offense 

$300 2nd offense 

$500 3rd offense 

12.12.030 
Parking prohibited over 24 hours 

$150 1st offense 

$300 2nd offense 

$500 3rd offense 

10.03.100 (D 1-19) 

  

Unsafe and Hazardous Vehicles 

$100 1st Offense 

Correctable 

$250 2nd Offense 

$500 3rd Offense  

(Ord. 19-04 § 2, 2019; Ord. 18-20 § 2, 2018; Ord. 18-06 § 2, 2018; Ord. 17-20A § 2, 2017)  82 

 83 
Section 3. These changes shall become codified the next business day following adoption by the 84 
North Pole City Council. 85 
 86 

71

https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1204.html#12.04.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1204.html#12.04.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1204.html#12.04.040
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1204.html#12.04.050
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1208.html#12.08.010
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1212.html#12.12.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/AK/NorthPole/#!/NorthPole12/NorthPole1212.html#12.12.030


PASSED/FAILED 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent 

ADOPTED the ___ day of November 2023. 87 
88 
89 
90 

Mayor Michael W Welch  91 
_______________________________________ 92 

93 
ATTEST: 94 
 95 
_______________________________ 96 
Emily Braniff, CMC 97 
City Clerk   98 

72



 

13 AAC 04.272. Energy absorption systems (bumpers) 
If a motor vehicle was equipped, when assembled, with bumpers or other collision energy 
absorption or attenuation system, the system must be maintained in good operating condition, and 
no person may remove, disconnect, cause or knowingly permit the removal or disconnection of a 
part of the system, except temporarily in order to make repairs, replacements, or adjustments, 
during which time the vehicle may not be driven.  

 

13 AAC 02.517. Authorized and other emergency vehicles 

(a) The driver of an authorized emergency vehicle, when responding to an emergency 
call, when in pursuit of an actual or suspected violator of a statute, regulation or 
ordinance, when responding to but not upon returning from a fire alarm, or in the 
performance of his official duties may disregard a statute, regulation or ordinance 
governing the operation, stopping, standing or parking of a vehicle, except as provided 
in this section. 

(b) The driver of an authorized emergency vehicle when responding to an emergency 
must use an audible signal meeting the requirements of 13 AAC 04.210(d) and visual 
signals meeting the requirements of 13 AAC 04.090, except that an authorized 
emergency vehicle operated as a police vehicle need not display a red light visible from 
in front of the vehicle and except as provided in (c) of this section. 

(c) A driver of an authorized emergency vehicle which is parked, stopped or standing 
in disregard of a regulation or ordinance prohibiting the parking, stopping or standing 
may not use an audible signal. 

(d) The driver of an off-highway vehicle may operate the vehicle upon a highway or 
railroad right-of-way when the vehicle is serving as an authorized emergency vehicle. 

(e) A person driving a vehicle displaying a flashing blue light meeting the requirements 
of 13 AAC 04.100 when responding to, but not upon returning from, an emergency, 
may, if not otherwise prohibited by a municipality, without undue danger to the safety 
of other persons or property 

(1) park or stand the vehicle in violation of a traffic regulation or ordinance or near the 
scene of the fire to which he responded; 

73

http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section210.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section090.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section100.htm


(2) except as provided in (f) of this section, exceed the maximum speed limit if he does 
not unreasonably endanger life or property, slows at each intersection, and exercises 
care under the circumstances; and 

(3) disregard regulations or ordinances governing direction, movement or turning in a 
specified direction if he does so at a speed less than the maximum speed limit for that 
location. 

(f) The provisions of this section do not relieve the driver of an authorized emergency 
vehicle or a vehicle displaying a flashing blue light from the duty to drive with regard 
for the safety of all persons, nor do the provisions of this section allow the driver of a 
vehicle displaying a flashing blue light to proceed past a stop sign or red signal without 
first stopping. 

(g) When the commissioner or the commissioner's designee authorizes a person's motor 
vehicle to be equipped with a flashing blue light meeting the requirements of 13 
AAC 04.100, the authorization must be in writing, and must be carried at all times in 
the vehicle. Failure to carry the authorization does not affect the status of the vehicle as 
an emergency vehicle. An authorization issued under this section is valid for five years 
from date of issue. An authorization issued under this section is void if the person's 
driver's license is suspended, revoked, or canceled, or if the person's vehicle no longer 
meets the equipment standards set out in 13 AAC 04. A person must return the 
document granting authorization to the commissioner or the commissioner's designee, 
if the person's driver's license is suspended, revoked, or canceled or if the person's 
vehicle no longer meets the equipment standards set out in 13 AAC 04. 

13 AAC 04.100. Flashing blue lights on vehicles 
(a) A firefighter, an emergency medical service responder, or a police officer, with the concurrence 
of the chief of that person's department, when authorized under 13 AAC 02.517 or (i) of this 
section, may equip the person's motor vehicle with a flashing blue light that must be visible from 
the front and sides for a distance of 300 feet in normal sunlight. The flashing blue light authorized 
by this subsection may be illuminated only when the driver of the vehicle is a member of a fire or 
a police department responding to an emergency, and the vehicle must display a sign or plate that 
indicates the department membership and the name of the municipality or organization in which 
the driver is a member.  

(b) Repealed 6/28/79.  

74

http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section100.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter002/section517.htm


(c) Repealed 6/28/79. 

(d) Repealed 6/28/79.  

(e) Police and public fire vehicles may not use a flashing blue light except simultaneously with a 
flashing red light as required in sec. 90 of this chapter.  

(f) Vehicles, except those vehicles described in (e) of this section, that are owned or operated by 
the state or a municipality may not use a flashing blue light except simultaneously with a flashing 
yellow light and in accordance with 13 AAC 04.095.  

(g) A person certified by a state agency to render emergency lifesaving or medical services, when 
authorized by the commissioner, may equip his private vehicle with a flashing blue light meeting 
the visibility requirements of (a) of this section, for use only when responding to an emergency. 
The flashing blue light may not be illuminated except when the driver of the vehicle is properly 
certified to render emergency lifesaving or medical services and his vehicle displays the "star of 
life" symbol.  

(h) Lights displaying blue color may not be used upon vehicles, except as provided in this section. 

(i) A fire chief, an emergency medical service provider, or a police chief of a municipality or 
borough that has been granted authority in writing by the commissioner may authorize a person to 
equip the person's motor vehicle with a flashing blue light if  

(1) the person completes and returns to the commissioner or the commissioner's designee on a 
signed and notarized form prepared by the department a certification that  

(A) the person's motor vehicle complies with the equipment standards set out in 13 AAC 04; 

(B) the person holds a valid Alaska driver's license that has not been suspended, revoked, 
cancelled, or limited within the three years before the form is returned; and  

(C) the person has read and understands the regulations for emergency vehicle operation set out in 
13 AAC 02.140, 13 AAC 02.517 and 13 AAC 04.100; and  

(2) if requested by the commissioner or the commissioner's designee, the person provides a 
certified copy of the person's driving record.  

13 AAC 04.015. Visibility distance and mounted height of 
lights  
(a) When a section of this chapter provides that the distance from which lights and reflectors must 
render objects visible or be visible, the requirement applies during the times provided in sec. 10 of 

75

http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section095.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter002/section140.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter002/section517.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter004/section100.htm


this chapter for a vehicle without load when upon a straight, level, unlighted highway under normal 
atmospheric conditions, unless a different time or condition is expressly stated. Lights must be 
maintained in good working order and kept clear of any obstruction which may reduce visibility, 
except as provided otherwise in this chapter.  

(b) Repealed 6/28/79.  

(c) When a provision of this chapter addresses the mounted height of lights or reflectors, the 
measurement specified is from the center of the light or reflector to the level ground upon which 
the vehicle stands when the vehicle is without a load.  

(d) Lights required under this chapter must be maintained in good working order, securely mounted 
to prevent misdirection of light beams, and kept clear of any obstruction which might reduce 
visibility, except as provided otherwise in this chapter. 

13 AAC 04.020. Headlights 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a motor vehicle must be equipped with at least 
two headlights, one on each side of the front of the motor vehicle. The headlights must emit white 
light to the front of the vehicle, comply with the requirements and limitations set out in this section, 
and be mounted at a height of not more than 54 inches or less than 24 inches.  

(b) Repealed 6/28/79.  

(c) Repealed 6/28/79. 

(d) Repealed 6/28/79.  

(e) When a motor vehicle is driven on a highway during the times specified in sec. 10 of this 
chapter, the driver shall use a high distribution of light or composite beam, directed at a height and 
of sufficient intensity to reveal persons and vehicles at a distance of 450 feet in advance of the 
vehicle for all load conditions, subject to the following requirements and limitations:  

(1) when the driver of a vehicle approaches an oncoming vehicle within 500 feet, the driver shall 
use a distribution of light, or composite beam, so that the glaring or high-intensity portion of the 
light is not projected into the eyes of the oncoming driver; the light must be of sufficient intensity 
to reveal a person or a vehicle at a distance of 150 feet in advance of the vehicle for all load 
conditions; and  

(2) when the driver of a vehicle approaches another vehicle from the rear, within 300 feet, the 
approaching driver may not use the highest distribution of light.  

76



(f) Headlight systems which provide a single distribution of light are permitted on all implements 
of husbandry, motor-driven cycles, bicycles and off-highway vehicles regardless of date of 
manufacture, if the systems are, as far as practicable, mounted and aimed as required in (a) of this 
section and are of sufficient intensity to reveal a person or a vehicle at a distance of 200 feet in 
advance of the vehicle, except as otherwise provided for motor-driven cycles or bicycles in sec. 
320(a) and (d) of this chapter.  

(g) A motor vehicle may be driven under the conditions specified in sec. 10 of this chapter when 
equipped with two illuminated lights upon the front of the vehicle capable of revealing persons 
and vehicles 100 feet ahead; provided, however, that a vehicle using the lights may not be driven 
at a speed in excess of that specified in 13 AAC 02.325(c) .  

13 AAC 04.035. Stop lights 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a vehicle must be equipped with two or more stop 
lights meeting the requirements of (c) of this section, except that passenger cars manufactured or 
assembled before January 1, 1958, must be equipped with at least one stop light. On a combination 
of vehicles, only the stop lights on the rearmost vehicle need actually be seen from the distance 
specified in (c) of this section.  

(b) Repealed 6/28/79.  

(c) The stop light or lights required in (a) of this section must be mounted on the rear of the vehicle 
and must display a red light, or a shade of red, visible from a distance of at least 300 feet to the 
rear in normal sunlight. The lights must be illuminated by application of the service or foot brake. 

13 AAC 04.037. Turn lights 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a vehicle must be equipped with electric turn 
signal lights meeting the requirements of (b) of this section, except that passenger cars and trucks 
less than 80 inches in width, and manufactured or assembled before January 1, 1953, need not be 
equipped with electric turn signal lights.  

(b) When required under this section, a vehicle must be equipped with electric turn signal lights 
which indicate an intention to turn by flashing lights showing to the front and rear of the vehicle 
on the side of the vehicle toward which the turn is to be made, and visible from a distance of at 
least 500 feet in sunlight. The lights showing to the front must be mounted on the same level, as 
widely spaced laterally as practicable and, when signaling, must emit yellow light except that on 
a vehicle manufactured before January 1, 1969, the lights showing to the front may emit white or 
yellow light, or a shade of light between white and yellow. The lights showing to the rear must be 

77

http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title13/chapter002/section325.htm


mounted on the same level, as widely spaced laterally as practicable and, when signaling, must 
emit a red or yellow light, or a shade of light between red and yellow.  

(c) A motor vehicle must be equipped with electric turn signal lights as provided in (b) of this 
section when the distance from the center of the top of the steering post to the left outside limit of 
the body, cab or load of the motor vehicle exceeds 24 inches, or when the distance from the center 
of the top of the steering post to the rear limit of the body or load of the vehicle exceeds 14 feet 

13 AAC 04.145. Restrictions on lighting equipment 
(a) When a motor vehicle equipped with headlights as required in this chapter is also equipped 
with an auxiliary light, spotlight, or other light on the front of the vehicle which projects a beam 
of intensity greater than 300 candlepower, no more than a total of four lights on the front of a 
vehicle may be illuminated at any time when there is approaching traffic. An auxiliary light must 
comply with the applicable mounting and visibility requirements of sec. 15 of this chapter.  

(b) Except as provided in secs. 37, 40, and 90 - 100 of this chapter, no person may drive or move 
a vehicle upon a highway displaying  

(1) a red light visible from directly in front of the center of the vehicle; 

(2) a flashing or rotating light; or 

(3) an alternately flashing light. 

(c) Repealed 6/28/79. 

(d) A motor vehicle may not be equipped with more than two spotlights, nor may a spotlight be 
illuminated and directed so that a part of the high intensity portion of the beam strikes the 
windshield, windows, mirror or occupant of another vehicle operated on a roadway, except by a 
police officer in the performance of official duties.  

(e) A lighting device or reflector mounted on the rear of a vehicle must display or reflect a red 
color, except the stop light or other signal device which may be red or yellow, and the light 
illuminating the registration plate and the light emitted by backup lights must be white. No backup 
light may be turned on when the vehicle is in forward motion.  

(f) No person may operate a motor vehicle on a roadway with any color of light illuminated other 
than colors specified in this chapter.  

78



13 AAC 04.205 Brakes 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, every motor vehicle and every combination of 
vehicles must have a service braking system which will stop the vehicle or combination of vehicles 
within 40 feet from an initial speed of 20 miles per hour on a level, dry, smooth, clear, hard surface, 
except that a passenger car or other single-unit vehicle with a manufacturer's gross vehicle weight 
rating of 10,000 pounds or less must be able to stop within 25 feet from an initial speed of 20 miles 
per hour on a similar surface.  

(b) A motor vehicle or combination of vehicles, except a motor-driven cycle or bicycle, must have 
a parking brake system adequate to hold the vehicle or combination of vehicles on any grade on 
which driven under all conditions of loading, on a surface free from snow, ice, or loose material.  

(c) A motor vehicle or combination of vehicles must comply with applicable federal motor vehicle 
safety standards adopted by the United States Department of Transportation.  

(d) No driver may operate a motor vehicle on a public roadway or other vehicular way, towing a 
vehicle with a GVWR greater than 5,000 pounds, unless the following conditions are met:  

(1) the towed vehicle must have operating brakes on at least two wheels on each side of a three 
axle vehicle, or one wheel on each side of a double or single axle vehicle;  

(2) the towed vehicle requiring brakes must be equipped with an operating, breakaway system 
capable of applying all required brakes in the event of separation from the towing vehicle; and  

(3) the towing vehicle must be of sufficient size and weight to safely control the towed vehicle. 

(e) No person may operate a motor vehicle on the roadway towing more than one vehicle unless 
the towing vehicle weighs more than 15,000 pounds, has three or more axles, and is equipped with 
an air brake system for both the towing and towed vehicles.  

(f) In this section, "GVWR" means the gross vehicle weight rating as defined in AS 28.40.100 
(a)(9).  

13 AAC 04.210. Horns and warning devices 
(a) A motor vehicle operated upon a highway or other vehicular way or area, except for 
snowmobiles, must be equipped with a horn in good working order and capable of emitting sound 
audible under normal conditions from a distance of at least 200 feet, but no horn or other warning 
device may emit an unreasonably loud or harsh sound or a whistle. The driver of a motor vehicle 
shall, when reasonably necessary to insure safe operation, give audible warning with his horn, but 
may not otherwise use the horn when upon a highway or other vehicular way or area.  

79

http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/statutes/title28/chapter40/section100.htm
http://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/statutes/title28/chapter40/section100.htm


(b) No vehicle may be equipped with, nor may a person use, a siren, whistle, or bell, except as 
otherwise permitted in this section.  

(c) A vehicle may be equipped with a theft alarm signal device, which is installed so that it cannot 
be used by the driver as an ordinary warning signal. A theft alarm signal device may use a whistle, 
bell, horn or other audible signal, but may not use a siren.  

(d) Every authorized emergency vehicle must be equipped with a siren, whistle or bell capable of 
emitting sound audible under normal conditions from a distance of at least 500 feet; the siren may 
be used only when the emergency vehicle is operated in response to an emergency call or is in the 
immediate pursuit of a suspected violator of the law. The driver of the emergency vehicle shall 
sound the siren when reasonably necessary to warn pedestrians and other drivers of its approach.  

13 AAC 04.220. Mirrors 
(a) A motor vehicle must be equipped with a mirror mounted on the left side of the vehicle; every 
motor vehicle except a motor-driven cycle, bicycle, or off-highway vehicle, must be equipped with 
a mirror mounted either inside the vehicle approximately in the center, or outside the vehicle on 
the right side.  

(b) The following motor vehicles must be equipped with mirrors on both the left and right sides of 
the vehicle:  

(1) a bus or school bus;  

(2) a motor vehicle constructed, loaded or designed to be loaded in a manner which obstructs the 
driver's view through the rear window; or  

(3) a motor vehicle towing a vehicle when the towed vehicle or its load obstructs the driver's view 
through the rear window.  

(c) All mirrors required by this section must be maintained in good condition and located to reflect 
to the driver a view to the rear of the vehicle 

80



13 AAC 04.223. Tinted vehicle windows 
(a) A person may not drive a motor vehicle on a highway, public road, street, or parking lot with 
mirrored tinting material on any window of the vehicle. Except as provided in this section, a person 
may not drive a motor vehicle on a highway, public road, street or parking lot with aftermarket 
tinting material or aftermarket striping material on any window of the vehicle.  

(b) Aftermarket tinting of vehicle windows is allowed as follows: 

(1) the front windshield may have a strip of tinting material applied to the top edge, known in the 
industry as an "eyebrow," which does not extend downward more than five inches from the top of 
the glass;  

(2) the driver and front passenger side windows may have tinting material that permits at least 70 
percent light transmittance;  

(3) the rear door windows, quarter glasses, and back glasses may have tinting material that permits 
at least 40 percent light transmittance;  

(4) limousines and passenger buses used to transport persons for hire, motor homes, and vehicles 
identified by the vehicle manufacturer as multipurpose may have tinting material that complies 
with Standard No. 205, Glazing Materials, in 49 C.F.R. 571.205 (1992).  

(c) The windows of a vehicle may have tinting material that permits less light transmittance than 
that specified in (b) of this section if  

(1) a driver or a passenger who frequently travels in the vehicle is required for medical reasons to 
be shielded from the direct rays of the sun;  

(2) the medical reasons are certified annually by a physician licensed to practice in this state; and  

(3) the certification is carried in the vehicle. 

(d) Tinting materials must be green, gray, bronze, or neutral smoke in color, or a sun reflective 
auto film.  

(e) Light transmittance must be measured by using a light transmittance measuring device with an 
allowance for manufacturing variances of plus or minus three percent. The accuracy of the device 
must be certified by the manufacturer.  

(f) In this section, "light transmittance" means the ratio, expressed as a percentage, of the amount 
of total light that is allowed to pass through a window, including glazing, to the amount of total 
light falling on the window.  

(g) All vehicles must comply with this section by July 1, 1994.  

81



(h) A tinted rear window on a motor vehicle is exempt from regulations relating to the tinting or 
luminous transmittance materials used in motor vehicle windows, if the vehicle's owner has proof 
that the rear window tinting was installed before July 1, 1994, and the vehicle is equipped with 
driver-side and passenger-side rearview mirrors.  

13 AAC 04.230. Tires 
(a) No person may drive or move on a highway a motor vehicle or trailer having a metal tire in 
contact with the roadway.  

(b) No tire on a vehicle moved on a highway may have on its periphery a protuberance of a material 
other than rubber which projects beyond the tread of the traction surface of the tire, except that it 
is permissible to use  

(1) implements of husbandry with tires having protuberances which will not injure the highway;  

(2) tire chains when required for safety because of snow, ice or other conditions which may cause 
a vehicle to skid; or  

(3) pneumatic tires having studs designed to improve traction without substantially injuring the 
surface of the highway; however, their use may be limited to certain months or types of vehicles, 
or both.  

(c) The Department of Transportation and Public Facilities or a municipality, in their respective 
jurisdiction, may issue a special permit authorizing the driving of a traction engine or tractor, 
except a snow vehicle, having movable tracks with transverse corrugations on the periphery of the 
movable tracks, or a farm tractor or other farm machinery, which would otherwise be prohibited 
under this section. The driver of the vehicle must provide planking under the treads to protect the 
surface of the roadway or bridge.  

(d) Every solid rubber tire on a vehicle must have rubber on its entire traction surface at least one 
inch thick above the edge of the flange of the entire periphery.  

(e) No person may drive a vehicle with a tire in unsafe operating condition or with a tread depth 
of less than two thirty-seconds of an inch measured in two adjacent tread grooves at three equally 
spaced intervals around the circumference of the tire. No tread measurements may be made at the 
location of a tread wear indicator, tie bar, hump or fillet.  

(f) No person in the business of selling, repairing or installing tires may sell, offer for sale, or 
install for highway use a tire which is in unsafe condition or which has a tread depth of less than 
two thirty-seconds of an inch measured as specified in (e) of this section.  

82



13 AAC 04.270. Safety belts 
(a) A passenger car manufactured or assembled after January 1, 1965, must be equipped with lap 
belt assemblies for use in the driver's and one other front seat position. A motor vehicle 
manufactured or assembled after January 1, 1968, except a motorcycle or off-highway vehicle, 
must be equipped with lap or shoulder belts required by the United States Department of 
Transportation in effect on the effective date of this section.  

(b) No person may distribute, offer for sale, sell or install a seat belt or shoulder harness for use in 
a motor vehicle unless the belt or harness meets minimum standards and specifications of the 
United States Department of Transportation in effect on the effective date of this section.  

(c) A vehicle owner shall maintain belts and assemblies required by this section in good condition. 

13 AAC 04.002. Unlawful to drive unsafe vehicle or violate 
chapter  
No person may violate this chapter, drive or move or cause or knowingly permit to be driven or 
moved on a highway or other vehicular way or area, a vehicle or combination of vehicles which is 
in an unsafe condition, or is not equipped as required in this chapter or which is otherwise equipped 
in violation of this chapter. If an unsafe vehicle must, for any reason, be operated on a highway or 
vehicular way or area, the driver, owner, dealer or repair business having knowledge of the 
condition must notify the department.  

AS 28.35.251 Contained or Confined Loads. 
(a) A person may not drive a motor vehicle loaded with sand, gravel, rock, or similar materials 
on a highway unless 
(1) the load is contained or confined to prevent the load from dropping, shifting, leaking, or 
escaping, except that sand or other substances may be dropped, sprinkled, or sprayed for the 
purpose of cleaning or maintaining the highway or providing traction; and 
(2) the load is subjected to treatment by methods, approved by the commissioner of public safety 
by regulation, designed to settle the load or remove loose material before the vehicle is driven on 
the highway. 
(b) If a cover is used to contain or confine a load being driven on a highway, the cover shall be 
securely fastened to prevent the cover from becoming loose or detached, or from being a hazard 
to other users of the highway. 

83



October 30, 2023 

To:   North Pole City Council 

Re:   Unsafe and Hazardous Vehicles Ordinance 2023-17 

Honorable Councilmembers, 

I have completed and submitted to you an additional tool to help mitigate traffic hazards on the 
roadways.  The City Attorney and I have worked on a solution for your consideration.  The nice 
thing about this ordinance is it gives the public a chance to fix their unsafe vehicles before any 
fines or penalties kick in. 

The council can add or delete any of the unsafe vehicle infractions we have listed but we believe 
these encompass the necessary infractions necessary. 

Very Respectfully, 

Chief Steve Dutra 

North Pole Police Department 
125 Snowman Ln. 

North Pole, AK 99705 
907-488-6902 

Northpolepolice.org 

84



MEMORANDUM 

City of North Pole Clerk’s Office  Melissa Dionne, City Clerk 

TO: NPCC   

FROM: Melissa Dionne, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: RFP Auditing Services 

DATE:  November 20, 2023  

City Council, 

In October, we presented an RFP for professional auditing services. This RFP was available on 
the city website, noticed in the News Miner and sent directly to a select few firms that were 
identified ahead of time. We received one bid. 

The firm Elgee Rehfeld out of Juneau bid $47,250 for the comprehensive audit, $15,750 for a 
single federal audit and $6,600 for consultation, for a total of $69,600. 

In 2021 the City of North Pole paid a total of $70,290 for the audit, $75,314 in 2022 and $93,760 
in 2023. 

Based on this information I am requesting that the Council award the Professional Auditing 
Services contract to Elgee Rehfeld. 

Thank you. 

Melissa Dionne 

85



Chief Steve Dutra 
125 Snowman Ln. 

North Pole, AK 99705 
907-488-6902 

Northpolepolice.org 

October 31, 2023 

To:  Mayor Welch and North Pole City Council 

Re:  Acceptance of Grant Funds from DHS&EM 

 23SHSP-GY23 - $193,330.00 

Honorable Council members: 

The North Pole Police Department and the Director of City Services have received confirmation that we 

have been given a grant award from the State of Alaska DHS&EM in the amount of $119,330.00 for new 

car cameras for the patrol fleet, body cameras for the officers, and servers for the entire system, and 

$39,000 for Public Works Generator installation and purchase, and finally $35,000 for Physical Security 

Assessment of City buildings and facilities to include water and sewer utilities. 

I am requesting the council accept these funds and allow us to formally send that request to the State of 

Alaska DHS&EM.  As you know these funds will help significantly with supplementing our departments 

with much-needed equipment that we would otherwise struggle to find in these tight budget cycles. 

Thank you very much. 

Chief Steve Dutra 

86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98


	Agenda - November 20, 2023
	Minutes - November 6, 2023
	Communications from the Mayor
	Student of the Month - Levi Skipps
	Unfinished Business
	Ordinance 23-15 SECOND READING 
	Ordinance 23-16 SECOND READING.pdf
	Ordinance 23-17 SECOND READING

	New Business
	Memo - Auditing Services
	Memo - Request to Accept Grant Funds 23SHSP-GY23




